FILED Apr 29, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 72538-6-I

### THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER ZANDER,

Appellant.

### ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. LINK Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

#

## Statutes

RCW 9A.08.010	8	8	
---------------	---	---	--

#### A. <u>ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR</u>

The prosecutor's improper and prejudicial argument denied Christopher Zander a fair trial.

#### B. <u>ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR</u>

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an individual a fair trial. Courts have long held that it is improper for a prosecutor in closing argument to misstate the law or appeal to the passion of the jury. Where in closing argument, the deputy prosecutor repeatedly misstated the law and appealed to the jury's passions is a new trial required?

#### C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Christopher Zander has a history of severe mental illness. Unfortunately that illness has led to a number of violations of an order barring him from contacting Deborah Condon, with whom he had a relationship many years ago.

Mr. Zander explained to the jury that he is a "Cyborg" under the direction of the "quantum computer." RP 447-48. He went to Ms. Condon's home under the direction of the computer explaining that because of the "override it's outside my control." RP 471.

The instant case arose from four separate violations. On the first occasion, Mr. Zander drove to the gate at the end of Ms. Condon's driveway and threw a purse over the gate. RP 167.The second time, Mr. Zander left a work light, Twinkies, zingers, and airplane size bottles of alcohol. RP 167. The third incident involved Mr. Zander tossing carpet rolls over the gate. RP 174. On the fourth occasion, as Ms. Condon drove into her cul-de-sac one evening she encountered Mr. Zander standing in the middle of the street. RP 178. After a short period of time staring at one another, Mr. Zander retreated into some nearby woods where he stood shining a flashlight. RP 178.

The State charged Mr. Zander with four counts of violating a no contact order. CP 68-69. A jury convicted him as charged. CP 101-04.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

# The deputy prosecutor's improper and prejudicial argument denied Mr. Zander a fair trial.

1. Due process prohibits a prosecutor from engaging in improper and prejudicial argument.

The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, section 3 guarantee the right to a fair trial. *In re the Personal Restraint of Glasmann*, 175 Wn.2d 696, 703, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). A prosecuting attorney is the representative of the community; therefore it is the prosecutor's duty to see that justice is done. *Berger v. United States*, 295 U.S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 629, 79 L. Ed. 1314 (1934). A prosecutor is a quasi-judicial officer whose duty is to ensure each defendant receives a fair trial. *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). This duty includes an obligation to prosecute a defendant impartially and to seek a verdict free from prejudice and based upon reason. *State v. Charlton*, 90 Wn.2d 657, 664, 585 P.2d 142 (1978).

- 2. By disparaging defense counsel, misstating the law, and urging the jury to consider matters beyond their role, the prosecutor denied Mr. Zander a fair trial.
  - a. <u>The deputy prosecutor prejudicially disparaged</u> <u>defense counsel</u>.

The Sixth Amendment guarantees a defendant the effective assistance of counsel. It is improper for the prosecution to comment on the role of counsel or disparage defense counsel. *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 451-52; 285 P.3d 43 (2011); *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 29-30, 195 P.3d 940 (2008); *State v. Gonzales*, 111 Wn. App. 276, 283-84, 45 P.3d 205 (2002).

*Thorgerson* found the prosecutor plainly committed misconduct where in closing argument he told the jury that the defense presentation was "bogus" and involved "sleight of hand." 172 Wn.2d at 452. The Court found the "sleight of hand" statement particularly problematic as it suggested "wrongful deception" by defense counsel. *Id*.

Here, the deputy prosecutor began his closing argument telling the jury that after the State's argument defense counsel would mislead them and urge them to go beyond their duty. RP 549. Defense counsel immediately objected. *Id*. Telling the jury that defense counsel would mislead them and encourage them to do something improper is precisely the type of argument *Thorgerson* found to be improper.

Despite an immediate objection, the trial court did not correct the error. Indeed, the court seemingly overruled the objection, stating "T'm not going to decide what either lawyer is saying." *Id*. The court then reminded the jury that argument counsel was intended to assist the jury in applying the law to the facts. *Id*. at 549-50. The court never told the jury that the prosecutor's disparaging comments were improper. In fact by telling jurors that argument was intended to assist them, it allowed the jury to believe the prosecutor was attempting to assist them when telling them not to trust defense counsel. Rather than cure the error the court magnified it.

# b. The deputy prosecutor improperly and prejudicially urged the jury to consider factors beyond their role.

It is improper for the State to employ in its arguments to the jury inflammatory comments which are a deliberate appeal to the passions and prejudices of the jury. *State v. Belgarde*, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507-08, 755 P.2d 174 (1988). Such arguments are improper for the added reason that they so often rely on matters outside the evidence. *State v. Pierce*, 169 Wn. App. 533, 553, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012). Here, the deputy prosecutor made such flagrant and prejudicial comments.

At the conclusion of his initial argument, the deputy prosecutor stated "an effort has been made to make this about Mr. Zander . . . this case is not about Mr. Zander, this case is about Ms. Condon and the efforts we go through to protect ourselves . . . ." RP 565. Mr. Zander did not immediately object. However, before the State's rebuttal argument Mr. Zander noted his objection to such arguments. RP 577.

Despite the objection and at the outset of rebuttal, the deputy prosecutor told the jury to "think about how [Ms. Condon] would ask you to exercise [the] power that you have." RP 578. Mr. Zander immediately objected. Without ruling on the objection, the court directed the prosecutor to "move on to your next point." *Id*. The prosecutor continued saying "[t]his case is not about Mr. Zander, this is

5

about doing what you can to protect yourself." *Id.* Again, Mr. Zander objected. Again without ruling on the objection, the court directed the prosecutor to limit his comments to responses to Mr. Zander's argument. *Id.* 

As the defendant, this case was very much about Mr. Zander. To tell the jury otherwise is a fundamental misstatement of the criminal process. The jury's task was to determine Mr. Zander's innocence or guilt and not to decide the case based upon the collateral effects or consequences of that determination. It was not the jury's task to provide protection to Ms. Condon, and no verdict, regardless could provide anything of the sort. The State's comments were wholly improper.

#### c. The deputy prosecutor misstated the law.

A prosecutor misstating the law in closing argument is "particularly egregious" with "the grave potential to mislead the jury." *State v. Allen*, 182 Wn.2d 364, 380, 341 P.3d 268 (2015) (citing *State v. Davenport*, 100 Wn.2d 757, 763, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984)). The Court observed this heightened risk of prejudice stems from the jury's knowledge that the prosecutor is an officer of the State. *Allen*, at 380 (citing *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 27, 195 P.3d 940 (2007)). "It is, therefore, particularly grievous that this officer would so mislead the jury" regarding a critical issue in the case. *Allen*, at 380.

The argument the State in this case made with respect to the element of knowledge mirrors that recently found improper in *Allen*. There the prosecutor told to the jury that "knowledge" is established so long as a person "should have known" of a particular outcome. 182 Wn.2d at 374-75. Here in closing argument, the deputy prosecutor told the jury it could find Mr. Zander had knowledge of the no contact orders so long as the jury concluded a reasonable person would have knowledge. RP 561. Just as in *Allen* the prosecutor's argument was improper.

The mens rea of "knowledge," requires actual subjective knowledge on the part of the person. *State v. Shipp*, 93 Wn.2d 510, 517, 610 P.2d 1322 (1980); *Allen*, 182 Wn.2d at 374. RCW 9A.08.010(1) defines "knowledge" as:

(b) .... A person knows or acts knowingly or with knowledge when:

(i) he or she is aware of a fact, facts, or circumstances or result described by a statute defining an offense; or

(ii) he or she has information which would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that facts exist which facts are described by a statute defining an offense. *Shipp* made clear the language contained in RCW 9A.08.101(1)(b)(ii) regarding a reasonable person is not an alternative definition of knowledge. 93 Wn.2d at 514-15. This provision instead

> permits but does not require the jury to infer actual, subjective knowledge if the defendant has information that would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that facts exist that are described by law as being a crime.

*State v. Vanoli*, 86 Wn. App. 643, 648, 937 P.2d 1166 (1997); *Shipp*, 93 Wn.2d at 516.

*Shipp* recognized there were three potential readings of RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b)(ii). First, a juror might conclude that if a reasonable person might have known of a fact, the juror was required to find the defendant had knowledge. 93 Wn.2d at 514. Second, a juror could conclude the statute redefined "knowledge" to include "negligent ignorance." *Id.* Finally, a juror instructed in the language of the statute could conclude the statute requires he find the defendant had actual knowledge, "and that he is permitted, but not required, to find such knowledge if he finds that the defendant had 'information which would lead a reasonable man in the same situation to believe that (the relevant) facts exist." *Id.* 

Addressing each of these alternatives in turn, *Shipp* found the first "clearly unconstitutional" as it creates a mandatory presumption. 93 Wn.2d at 515. The Court deemed the second alternative unconstitutional as well, as defining knowledge in a manner so contrary to its ordinary meaning deprived people of notice of which conduct was criminalized. *Id.* at 515-16.

In resting upon the third interpretation as the only constitutionally permissible reading, the Supreme Court said "[t]he jury must still be allowed to conclude that he was less attentive or intelligent than the ordinary person." *Id.* at 516. Thus, the "jury must still find subjective knowledge." *Id.* at 517.

By arguing knowledge is established simply by proving what a reasonable person should know, the State misstated the law. As in *Allen*, that misstatement requires a new trial.

# 3. <u>The court should reverse Mr. Zander's convictions and</u> afford him a fair trial.

"A prosecutor has no right to call to the attention of the jury matters or considerations which the jurors have no right to consider." *Belgarde*, 110 Wn.2d at 508. Further, where a prosecutor misstates the law there is a substantial risk that it will affect the jury. *Allen*, 182 Wn.2d at 380. Because Mr. Zander repeatedly objected at trial and because the nature of the improper argument created a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict, this court should reverse Mr. Zander's convictions. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012).

### E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the reasons set forth above, this Court should reverse Mr.

Zander's convictions

Respectfully submitted this 29<sup>th</sup> day of April, 2015.

s/ GREGORY C. LINK – 25228 Washington Appellate Project – 91072 Attorneys for Appellant

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

RESPONDENT,

٧.

NO. 72538-6-I

CHRISTOPHER ZANDER,

APPELLANT.