72538-6 72538-6

No. 72538-6-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

FILED
Jul 02, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

 $\mathbf{v}_{ullet}$ 

CHRISTOPHER ZANDER, Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DAVID S. McEACHRAN, Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney By KIMBERLY THULIN Appellate Deputy Prosecutor Attorney for Respondent WSBA #21210

Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office 311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 676-6784

##

C.	FACTS		
	1.	Procedural facts 1	
	2.	Substantive facts	
D.	ARGUMENT3		
	1.	Zander cannot demonstrate from this record his trial was constitutionally unfair where the prosecutor did not make repeated misstatements of the law and error if any with alleged impermissible argument was isolated. Moreover, the alleged errors had no prejudicial effect in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt	
E.	CO	CONCLUSION13	

### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

None.

# B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether Zander can demonstrate from this record his trial was constitutionally unfair where the prosecutor did not make repeated impermissible arguments or misstate the law and error if any, was isolated and could not have resulted in any prejudice in light of the overwhelming evidence presented below.

#### C. FACTS

#### 1. Procedural facts.

Christopher Zander was charged with five counts of domestic violence felony violation of a no contact order for repeatedly violating a no contact order prohibiting contact with Deborah Condon, with whom Zander previously had a romantic relationship with. CP 68-71. Following a jury trial, Zander was convicted as charged. CP 111-222. The sentencing court calculated an offender score of 15 months and imposed a 120 month sentence. Id. Zander timely appeals. CP 123-135.

#### 2. Substantive facts.

Christopher Zander repeatedly and knowingly violated a no contact order prohibiting him from any contact with Deborah Condon, with whom he previously had a relationship. RP 150. On one occasion Zander drove

to Ms. Condon's home, stopped at the gate at the end of her driveway and tossed a purse enclosed in a freezer bag onto her property. RP 167. Inside the purse Zander had written several notes and other miscellaneous items. RP 173. On another occasion, Zander left a work light, some alcohol, Twinkies and Zingers outside a gate at Condon's home. Then again on another occasion, Zander drove over to her home at 4:45 a.m., pulled up to the gate, put his bright lights of his vehicle directly into her home, got out of his vehicle and threw four large rolls of carpet over her gate. RP 174. Finally, on another occasion Condon returned home in her vehicle at approximately 10:30 p.m. to find Zander was standing a few feet from Condon's property. Zander stood outside his vehicle staring at Condon whilst holding a flashlight. RP 178. Eventually, after Condon drove to her neighbor's home to summon help, Zander fled into the woods with his flashlight. RP 181. After several hours, Zander returned to his vehicle and left the area. RP 182. On another occasion Condon found Zander standing on foot outside a gate that led to Condon's mail box early in the morning. RP 186. At trial, the state presented security video provided by Ms. Condon of most all of these incidents –wherein Zander could be seen violating the terms of the no contact order. While testifying, Zander acknowledged he was aware of the no contact order, its provisions prohibiting contact and that he had repeatedly violated the order. RP 465.

#### D. ARGUMENT

1. Zander cannot demonstrate from this record his trial was constitutionally unfair where the prosecutor did not make repeated misstatements of the law and error if any with alleged impermissible argument was isolated. Moreover, the alleged errors had no prejudicial effect in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt.

Where prosecutorial error is claimed, the appellant bears the burden of showing both the impropriety of the conduct and its prejudicial effect. State v. Brown, 132 Wash. 2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), as amended (Aug. 13, 1997), . Prejudicial effect is established only if there is a substantial likelihood that the error affected the jury's verdict. State v. Roberts, 142 Wash. 2d 471, 533, 14 P.3d 713 (2000), as amended on denial of reconsideration (Mar. 2, 2001), . Absent an objection, a claim of prosecutorial error is waived unless it is so flagrant or ill-intentioned that it creates an incurable prejudice. State v. Russell, 125 Wash. 2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994); State v. Echevarria, 71 Wash. App. 595, 597, 860 P.2d 420 (1993), as amended on reconsideration (Nov. 23, 1993), . Prosecutorial error does not create an incurable prejudice unless: (1) there is a substantial likelihood that it affected the jury's verdict, and (2) a properly timed curative instruction could not have prevented the potential prejudice. State v. Brett, 126 Wash. 2d 136, 175-76, 892 P.2d 29 (1995).

A prosecutor's comments in closing must be viewed in context of the entire closing argument, the issues in the case, the evidence presented and the jury instructions given. Russell, 125 Wash. 2d at 85-86. Defense counsel's decision not to object or move for a mistrial is strong evidence that the prosecutor's argument was not critically prejudicial to the appellant. State v. Swan, 114 Wash. 2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990), as clarified on denial of reconsideration (June 22, 1990), . Where a defendant objects on the basis of prosecutorial misconduct, a reviewing court defers to the trial court's ruling on the matter because the "trial court is in the best position to most effectively determine if prosecutorial misconduct prejudiced a defendant's right to a fair trial." State v. Stenson, 132 Wash. 2d 668, 719, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997); see also, State v. Gregory, 158 Wash. 2d 759, 841, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006), as corrected (Dec. 22, 2006), (court gives deference to the trial court's ruling on motion for mistrial "because the trial court is in the best position to evaluate whether the prosecutor's comment prejudiced the defendant").

Zander contends the prosecutor improperly disparaged defense counsel, misstated the law and urged the jury to consider matters beyond "their role." Br. of App. at 3. Relying on <u>State v. Thorgerson</u>, 172 Wash. 2d 438, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). Zander contends these alleged errors require reversal.

Disparaging defense counsel.

It is improper for a prosecutor to disparagingly comment on defense counsel's role or impugn the defense lawyer's integrity. State v. Warren, 165 Wash. 2d 17, 29-30, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). In Thorgeson, the prosecutor committed error in opening and closing statements by repeatedly referring to the defense as 'bogus' and engaging in 'sleight of hand' in defending Thorgeson. The court determined that the phrase 'sleight of hand' implied a deception or dishonesty by defense counsel and constituted improper argument. Warren, 165 Wash. 2d 17 The Court determined nonetheless, it was unlikely the prosecutor's disparaging remarks would have altered the result or that a curative instruction could not have alleviated any potential prejudice and therefore affirmed Thorgeson's conviction.

Here, at the beginning of closing argument, the prosecutor stated:

I'm going to summarize the evidence that we heard in the trial and I'm going to talk at length about the instructions that you heard from judge Garrett just a moment ago because your job as a jury as a whole will be to carefully go through all of these things, to remember what you heard in court, and to compare them to the law you've been instructed on. And that is your duty to do that.

Okay. Now there will be other things argued in the next hour or so to you that encourage you to go beyond what your duty is as a juror.

RP 549.

While the prosecutor did not identify who or what other things he was referring to, Zander contends this argument implied his trial attorney would ask jurors to go outside their duty. Appropriately, Zander's attorney immediately objected and advised the court and the jury that this argument was improperly commenting on counsel. Id. The prosecutor then clarified to the court in front of the jury he was merely arguing the jury's duty was to abide by the law as given by the court and not anything else. RP 549. The prosecutor appeared concerned, likely in context to trial testimony, that Zander's attorney would argue Zander didn't intentionally violate the protection order based on a mental health condition even though Zander did not seek to introduce medical testimony regarding Zander's ability to from the requisite intent to commit the charged crimes. See RP 564.

In response, the trial court then cautioned the jury, without ruling specifically on the objection, "that they should consider the lawyers arguments and statements as intended to help you understand the evidence and applied the law to the evidence. The Court's instructions are these instructions the definitive instructions on the

law and you've received those instructions and you'll have them to refer to." RP 550.

This cautionary instruction, while not ideal, did reaffirm to the jury that the attorney's arguments were merely to assist them in digesting the evidence and ultimately the jury would decide the case based on the law as instructed by the trial court. RP 549-50. This instruction did not magnify the alleged error but instead neutralized it —by not characterizing the argument one way or another but instead reminding the jury the arguments were not evidence and they were to focus on the law as given by the court. Moreover, the prosecutor immediately clarified he was asking the jury to apply the facts to the law-as given by the Court. This clarification further ameliorated any potential prejudice that could have been caused by the prosecutor's isolated statement.

In light of the trial court's neutralizing instruction, the prosecutor's clarification of his argument and the overwhelming evidence otherwise presented below, Zander cannot demonstrate this isolated statement during closing argument could have substantially affected the verdict. Reversal for this alleged isolated error is not warranted.

#### Alleged prejudicial comments

Next, Zander contends the prosecutor impermissibly made flagrant and prejudicial comments during closing meant to appeal to the prejudices and passions of the jury. Br. of App. at 5.

Specifically, Zander contends the prosecutor's comments during closing stating that "an effort has been made to make this about Mr.

Zander in the last, Wednesday last week and again this morning. This case is not about Mr. Zander, this case is about Ms. Condon and the efforts we go through to protect ourselves. That's what you heard about. So I ask you to find Mr. Zander guilty of five different charges, five different crimes he's committed in this case," was impermissible. RP 565. Zander did not object initially but prior to the state's rebuttal argument Zander's attorney did note he was objecting to any argument meant to direct the jury to protect the victim. RP 577.

Absent an objection, a claim of prosecutorial error is waived unless it is so flagrant or ill-intentioned that it creates an incurable prejudice. Had Zander objected initially, the trial court could have given an effective curative instruction had it determined the prosecutor's statement was improper by simply reminding the jury, as the prosecutor subsequently did, that the state had the burden of proving Zander's guilt based on the evidence presented beyond a reasonable doubt and such decision is

predicated on the facts presented applied to the law as instructed by the jury. Since a curative instruction would have cured any potential for prejudice, Zander waived his right to now complain of this alleged error.

When the prosecutor subsequently asked the jury to consider Ms. Condon's wishes during rebuttal, Zander did object and the Court appropriately asked the prosecutor to move on. RP 578. The prosecutor then drew another objection by asserting the case was about "doing what you can to protect yourself" at which point, the trial court advised the prosecutor to focus on responding to the factual issues raised in Zander's defense counsel's closing. RP 578. The prosecutor did, asking the jury to review the 'to convict' jury instructions that set forth the elements for each charged offense and to follow the jury instructions as given by the Court. The court's intervention and the prosecutor's appropriate response alleviate any potential for prejudice stemming from the prosecutor's statements. Thus, Zander cannot demonstrate this alleged error could have any substantial prejudicial effect on the jury determination. Particularly, in light of the overwhelming evidence presented against Zander, including his own admissions and video surveillance of the charged crimes.

Alleged misstatement of the law during closing

Finally Zander argues, relying on State v. Allen, 182 Wash. 2d 364, 341 P.3d 268 (2015), that he was prejudiced by the prosecutor's alleged misstatements of the law regarding the 'knowing' element of the charged offense during closing arguments. Br. of App. at 7. Zander contends the prosecutor impermissibly told the jury in closing it could find Zander had knowledge of the no contact order so long as the jury concluded a reasonable person would have knowledge. Br. of App. at 7. Zander contends that as in Allen, 182 Wash. 2d 364, this reasonable person "should have known" of a particular outcome argument was impermissible. Br. of App. at 7.

In Allen, the prosecutor's argument was determined impermissible because Allen was charged as an accomplice and under accomplice liability, the jury was required to find Allen had actual knowledge that the principle was engaging or going to commit the crime charged. Thus, the court determined it was improper for the prosecutor to argue Allen acted knowingly predicated on constructive knowledge.

Zander was not charged as an accomplice. Moreover, the evidence overwhelmingly demonstrated Zander had actual knowledge of the protection order, its terms and knowingly, repeatedly violated those provisions. And in context, the record reflects the prosecutor merely was

reviewing the jury instructions as given to the jury pertaining to the "knowingly" mens rea element arguing:

to act knowingly means if a person knows or acts knowingly or with knowledge with respect to a fact, circumstance or result, then he or she is aware of that fact, circumstance or result.

So we know Mr. Zander was aware of two things; we know he was aware that the protection order was in place that protected Deborah Condon, he was well aware of that. Ms. Holmes had gone over with him specifically just a week before these events started really gaining speed in January of 2014. We know he signed the bottom of each of the protection orders you'll see in Exhibits 1-A and Exhibit 2. We know that was him that signed those, we had fingerprint experts, we had Ms. Condon recognizing his signature on all the documents, we know Mr. Zander knew, and Mr. Zander admitted that he knew these, that the protection orders were in place. Okay. This is the first part of the knowing instruction when he is aware of the facts.

Mr. Zander was fully aware of the fact that the protection orders were in place, okay. It's not necessary that the person know the facts or circumstances or result defined by law as being a crime so we don't have to show, it's not a necessary part of what needs to be shown that Mr. Zander knew then that violating a protection order was criminal, we don't have to show that. We have to show that there was a protection order in place and Mr. Zander knew of that protection order.

And importantly the last part of this instruction on knowledge is if the person has information that would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that the facts exists, the jury, you, is permitted to find that he acted with knowledge of that fact. Okay, so it's even further than you believing Mr. Zander knew that these protection orders were in place and that he was violating them. If a reasonable person would have had the information to know that, that's like also a permitted showing of knowledge for this case, okay. And we know a reasonable person in the shoes of Mr. Zanders would know that these orders were in place because he sat in court, was told the orders were in place by a judge, signed his name on them, put his finger prints on them, was reminded of them

on numerous occasions by Ms. Holmes, a reasonable person in the mind of Mr. Zander' would know those orders are in place.

RP 562. Taken in context, these statements demonstrate the prosecutor did not misstate the law but was merely repeating the law as defined by the Court and approved by the parties and, was explaining the applicability of the law to the facts. The prosecutor argued the evidence demonstrated Zander had actual knowledge of the protective order and knowingly violated its terms. The prosecutor also pointed out the jury could also find Zander had actual 'knowledge' if the jury determined "the person has information that would lead a reasonable person *in the same situation* to believe that the facts exists, the jury, you, is *permitted* to find that he acted with knowledge of that fact." RP 561(*emphasis added*). This argument was entirely consistent with the instructions and appropriate given that Zander was not charged as an accomplice. Jury instruction 13 read:

A person knows or acts knowingly or with knowledge with respect to a fact, circumstances or result when he or she is aware of that fact, circumstance or result. It is not necessary that the person know the fact, circumstances or result is defined by law as being unlawful or an element of a crime.

If a person has information that would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that a fact exists, the jury is permitted but not required to find that he or she acted with knowledge of that fact.

When acting knowingly as to a particular fact is required to establish an element of the crime, the element is also established if a person acts intentionally as to that fact. CP 80-100 (instruction 13).

Zander cannot therefore show based on this record, that the prosecutor misstated or impermissibly argued the law. Particularly when the facts establish Zander knew of the protective orders, signed the Orders and acted in a manner that reflected he knew his violations were intentional. Zander's argument should be rejected.

#### E. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State requests that Zander's appeal be denied and his five felony domestic violence no contact order convictions and sentences be affirmed.